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Consolidated statements of income

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) Notes 2022 2021

Interest income 22 385,562 382,701

Interest expense 23 – 29,390 – 26,032

Net interest income 356,172 356,668

Commission and fee income 24 152,688 130,350

Net revenues 508,859 487,018

Provision for losses on financing receivables 4 – 40,934 – 40,282

Compensation and benefits – 135,486 – 132,207

General and administrative expenses 25 – 121,969 – 114,048

Total operating expenses – 257,456 – 246,255

Income before income taxes 210,469 200,481

Income tax expense 17 – 41,168 – 38,987

Net income 169,300 161,495

Earnings per share

Basic 15  5.77  5.50 

Diluted 15  5.76  5.49 

See accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements



Cembra – Annual Report 2022 129

Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Net income 169,300 161,495

Net prior service cost, net of tax – 1,142 – 924

Actuarial gain / (loss), net of tax 21,593 23,139

Unrealised gains / (losses) on investment securities, net of tax – 731 –

Total other comprehensive gain / (loss), net of tax 19,719 22,215

Comprehensive income 189,019 183,710

See accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of 
financial position

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) Notes 2022 2021

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 632,644 544,769

Financing receivables, net 4 6,520,097 6,206,995

Investment securities 5 97,337 –

Property, plant and equipment, net 6 25,268 28,863

thereof operating lease - right-of-use (ROU) assets 6 19,610 23,678

Intangible assets, net 7 77,950 70,127

Goodwill 8 189,521 156,828

Other assets 9 110,472 87,717

Total assets 1 7,653,290 7,095,299

Liabilities and equity

Deposits 10 3,513,116 3,199,397

Accrued expenses and other payables 203,862 167,323

Short-term debt 11 450,000 349,994

Long-term debt 11 2,163,029 2,142,064

Other liabilities 13 23,027 30,567

thereof operating lease - lease liability 6 19,751 23,785

Deferred tax liabilities, net 17 25,855 5,678

Total liabilities 1 6,378,889 5,895,022

Common shares 30,000 30,000

Additional paid in capital (APIC) 258,123 257,683

Retained earnings 1,010,017 953,689

Treasury shares – 36,903 – 34,540

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) 13,164 – 6,556

Total shareholders' equity 1,274,401 1,200,276

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,653,290 7,095,299

1	� The Group's consolidated assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 include total assets of TCHF 302,816 and TCHF 608,949, respectively, of consolidated variable 
interest entities (VIEs) that can only be used to settle the liabilities of the VIEs. The Group's consolidated liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 include 
liabilities of the VIEs of TCHF 251,194 and TCHF 503,181, respectively, for which the VIE creditors do not have recourse to Cembra Money Bank AG

See accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of changes in
shareholders’ equity 

CHF in thousands
 Common  

shares APIC
 Retained  
earnings 

Treasury  
shares AOCI  Total equity 

Balance at  
1 January 2021 30,000 259,046 902,374 – 35,843 – 28,555 1,127,023

Net income – – 161,495 – – 161,495

Dividends paid – – – 110,181 – – – 110,181

Change due to share-based compensation – – 1,363 – 1,814 – 451

Treasury shares – – – – 511 – – 511

Reclassifications from accumulated other compre-
hensive loss net of deferred tax of TCHF -957 1 – – – – 4,103 4,103

Balance at  
31 December 2021 30,000 257,683 953,689 – 34,540 – 6,556 1,200,276

Balance at  
1 January 2022 30,000 257,683 953,689 – 34,540 – 6,556 1,200,276

Net income – – 169,300 – – 169,300

Dividends paid – – – 112,971 – – – 112,971

Change due to share-based compensation – 440 – 633 – 1,073

Treasury shares – – – – 2,997 – – 2,997

Movements related to the Group's benefit plan 
obligation, net of deferred tax of TCHF -4,676 – – – – 20,091 20,091

Reclassifications from accumulated other compre-
hensive loss net of deferred tax of TCHF -64 1 – – – – 360 360

Unrealised gains / (losses) on available for sale debt 
securities, net of deferred tax of TCHF 174 – – – – – 731 – 731

Balance at  
31 December 2022 30,000 258,123 1,010,017 – 36,903 13,164 1,274,401

1	� Reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the Group's pension benefit plan obligation are classified in the income statement under 
general and administrative expenses

See accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of cash flows
For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) Notes 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 169,300 161,495

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided from operating activities:

Provision for losses on financing receivables 40,934 40,282

Deferred income taxes 12,286 – 261

Depreciation 2,553 2,825

Amortisation of intangible assets 23,402 22,220

(Decrease) / Increase in accrued expenses and other payables 33,197 – 42,983

Decrease / (Increase)  in tax receivables          – 3,848 – 3,875

Decrease / (Increase)  in other receivables – 3,970 – 193

Decrease / (increase) in other assets – 29,343 321

All other operating activities – 1,090 – 5,221

Net cash provided by operating activities 243,421 174,609

Cash flows from investing activities

Net (increase) / decrease in financing receivables 27 – 306,419 37,077

Proceeds from sale of loss certificates 4 – 8,209

Purchase of investment securities 5 – 98,473 –

Additions to intangible assets – 11,772 – 9,968

Investments in subsidiaries and other investments 3 – 50,638 –

All other investing activities – 4,568 – 867

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities – 471,870 34,450

Cash flows from financing activities

Net change in deposits 313,719 – 75,223

Issuance of short-term and long-term debt 470,000 200,000

Repayments of short-term and long-term debt – 372,145 – 275,216

Dividends paid – 112,971 – 110,181

Purchase of treasury shares – 2,997 – 511

All other financing activities 2,039 2,496

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 297,644 – 258,635

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 69,195 – 49,576

Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash classified in "Other assets" 

Beginning of the period 581,245 630,822

thereof restricted cash 36,476 31,820

End of period 650,441 581,245

thereof restricted cash 17,797 36,476

Supplemental disclosure

Interest paid – 24,506 – 23,152

Income taxes paid – 34,681 – 52,043

See accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements

1.  Basis of presentation and summary of significant accounting policies

Cembra Money Bank, which is headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland, comprises of Cembra Money Bank AG (“the Bank” 
or the parent company) and its subsidiaries Swiss Auto Lease 2016-1 GmbH in Liquidation (cancelled as of 17 January 
2023), Swiss Auto Lease 2019-1 GmbH, Swiss Auto Lease 2020-1 GmbH, Swissbilling SA, eny Credit GmbH, Fastcap AG, 
Byjuno AG and Byjuno Finance AG (collectively “the Group”). The Group is a leading provider of financing solutions and 
services in Switzerland. The main products comprise consumer finance products such as personal loans, auto leases 
and loans, credit cards, invoice financing as well as saving products. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the Group’s financial position, results of operations, shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
US (US GAAP) and in compliance with the Swiss law. The Group’s financial year ends on 31 December. The consolidated 
financial statements are stated in Swiss francs (CHF) and have been derived from the historical accounting records. The 
abbreviation TCHF within these financial statements refers to thousands of Swiss francs. The numbers published in the 
notes are rounded in thousands of Swiss francs, therefore rounding differences can occur.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements represent the Bank and all of its majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries.  
All significant transactions and balances among the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated.

An entity is referred to as a variable interest entity (VIE) if it meets the criteria outlined by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB), in the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, which are: (a) the entity has 
insufficient equity to allow it to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other 
parties; or (b) the entity has equity investors that as a group cannot make significant decisions about the entity’s oper-
ations or that do not absorb the expected losses or receive the expected returns of the entity. The Group is involved 
with VIEs through its lease securitisation and lending activities.

In accordance with ASC Topic 810, the Group consolidates a VIE when it has both the power to direct the activities that 
most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and an obligation to absorb losses, or a right to receive ben-
efits from the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE, i.e. when the Group is determined to be the primary 
beneficiary of the VIE.

VIEs are continually monitored by the Group to determine if any events have occurred that could cause its primary 
beneficiary status to change. These events include:

 – Additional purchases or sales of variable interests by the Bank or an unrelated third party, which cause the Bank’s 
overall variable interest ownership to change;

 – Changes in contractual arrangements in a manner that reallocates expected losses and residual returns among 
the variable interest holders;

 – Changes in the party that has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s 
economic performance; and

 – Providing support to an entity that results in an implicit variable interest.
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Use of estimates

Preparing financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the management to make estimates based on 
assumptions about future economic and market conditions that affect the reported amounts and the related disclo-
sures in the financial statements. Although the Group’s current estimates take into account current conditions and 
how management expects them to change in the future, as appropriate, it is reasonably possible that in the reporting 
period and beyond actual conditions could alter, which could materially affect the Group’s results of operations and 
financial position. Among other effects, such changes could result in future impairments of goodwill, intangible, long-
lived and right-of-use assets, incremental losses on financing receivables, and establishment of additional valuation 
allowances on deferred tax assets. Such changes may also have an impact on the residual values of leased objects and 
on the actuarial valuation of the projected benefit obligations (PBO) of the pension fund.

Revenues (earned income)

Interest income on loans and credit cards
The Group uses the interest method to recognise income on loans and credit cards. Interest income includes amortisa-
tion of direct loan origination costs, as well as nonrefundable origination and annual fees.

The Group stops interest recognition at the earlier of the time at which collection on an account becomes doubtful 
or at the time at which the account becomes 90 days past due. The Group resumes interest recognition on nonaccrual, 
nonrestructured commercial loans only when (a) payments are received that bring the account to earning status 
according to the loan’s original terms; and (b) future payments are reasonably assured. The Group resumes interest 
recognition on nonaccrual consumer loans when the customer’s account cures to less than 90 days past due as a result 
of payments received.

Interest income on leases
Financing lease income is recognised using the interest method to produce a level yield on the outstanding principal. 
Interest on leases also includes amortisation of initial direct costs. Estimated residual values at the date of lease incep-
tion are based upon the Group’s initial best estimates of the value of the leased asset at the end of the lease term. The 
Group uses various data sources in determining this estimate, including information obtained from third parties which 
is adjusted for the attributes of the specific asset being evaluated. Full amount of residual values guaranteed by third 
party dealers are included in fixed lease payments when evaluating lease classification under ASC 842-10-25-2.

Other revenues
In accordance with ASC Topic 606, revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a cus-
tomer, and excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a 
contractual performance obligation. These performance obligations are typically satisfied as the services in the contract 
are rendered. The contract terms are generally such that they do not result in any contract assets. The contracts generally 
do not include a significant financing component or obligations for refunds or other similar obligations. The contracts 
generally do not include variable consideration, therefore there is no significant judgement required in this respect.

The Group offers insurance products to its customers. Those products are complementary to the Group’s lending prod-
ucts and the Group acts as an agent to insurance companies. For arranging between the customer and the insurer, the 
Group is entitled to keep a part of the insurance premium as its commission, which is recognised on a net basis as the 
services are rendered. The premiums are charged monthly, the Group recognises the commission income as earned; 
revenue from cards insurance products due annually is amortised over 12 months. Fee revenues primarily comprise 
credit card fees, such as interchange and other fees, including reminder fees. Interchange and other card fees are rec-
ognised when earned, except for the origination and annual fees described under the sub-chapter “Interest Income on 
Loans and Credit Cards” above. Fee revenue is reduced by the costs of any applicable reward programme.
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Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets by type of fixed assets. Depreciation of leasehold improvements is recorded on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets or the period of the underlying lease agreement, when shorter.

The cost of intangible assets is generally amortised on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life. The 
Group reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Capitalised software, stated at cost less accumulated amortisation, includes purchased software and capitalisable 
application development costs associated with internally developed software. Capitalised software is included in 
intangible assets, net of accumulated depreciation. Amortisation expense, computed on the straight-line method, is 
charged to depreciation and amortisation in general and administrative expenses over the estimated useful life of the 
software, generally five years.

Cloud computing arrangements consist of software as a service (SaaS). Implementation costs related to such hosting 
arrangements that are service contracts are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over the noncancelable 
term of the cloud computing arrangement plus any optional renewal periods that are reasonably certain to be exer-
cised or for which exercise of the renewal option is controlled by the cloud service provider.  Implementation costs 
associated with cloud computing arrangements are recorded in “Other assets”. Amortisation expense is charged to 
information technology in general and administrative expenses.

Allowance for losses

The allowance for losses on financing receivables represents the Group’s estimate of future probable losses inherent 
in the portfolio. Losses on financing receivables are recognised when they are incurred. The method of calculating esti-
mated losses takes into account our historical experience, adjusted for current conditions with each product and cus-
tomer type, and our judgment concerning the probable effects of relevant observable data, trends and market factors.
The Group’s loan portfolio consists of smaller-balance, homogeneous pools of loans, including mainly credit card 
receivables, personal loans, auto leases and loans and invoice financing receivables. Each portfolio is evaluated for 
impairment on a quarterly basis. The allowance for losses on these financing receivables is established through a pro-
cess that estimates the probable losses inherent in the portfolio based upon statistical analyses of portfolio data. 
These analyses include migration analysis to estimate the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various 
stages of delinquency. The considerations in these analyses include historical loss performance on actual defaulted 
loans, historical behaviour of different account vintages, roll rate movements, risk management techniques applied to 
various accounts, recent trends in delinquencies, bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, 
seasoning, trends in new loan volume and lending terms, payment rates and a review process of the adequacy of the 
allowance for losses. Management also considers current economic conditions, forecasting uncertainties, behaviour 
on specific accounts and other observable environmental factors such as the unemployment rate as well as future 
client payment behaviour which is subject to management judgement. The underlying assumptions, estimates and 
assessments are updated periodically to reflect our view of current conditions and are subject to the Group’s govern-
ance.

Nonaccrual financing receivables are those on which the Group has stopped accruing interest. 

Delinquent receivables are those that are 30 days or more past due based on their contractual terms. 

Troubled debt restructurings (TDRs) are loans or leases where the customer has experienced financial difficulties and 
is unable to meet the contractual obligations, and as a result the Group has granted concessions to the customer that 
it would not otherwise consider. The Group has minimal exposure to TDRs as this type of restructuring only would be 
granted in exceptional individual cases.
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Write-offs and recoveries

For personal loans and auto leases and loans, the Group maintains a single write-off date within each month, which 
ensures that at each reporting date all accounts meeting the relevant criteria have been written off. Unsecured closed-
end instalment loans originated by the Bank or cashgate (until merger in June 2021) with term duration less than 60 
months and consumer auto finance leases are written off on the monthly write-off date after the contract reaches 120 
days contractually past due. Unsecured closed-end instalment loans originated by the Bank or cashgate (until merger 
in June 2021) with term duration of 60 months or greater, commercial auto finance leases and BNPL receivables are writ-
ten off on the monthly write-off date after the contract reaches 180 days contractually past due. For credit cards, the 
Group writes off the account on the date the account becomes 180 days contractually past due. Unsecured consumer 
loans in bankruptcy are written off within 60 days of notification of filing by the bankruptcy court or within the defined 
write-off periods, whichever occurs earlier. 

Recoveries are defined as any cash collected after a loan or lease has been written off. Recoveries include the receipt 
of principal, interest, fees and proceeds from realisation of collateral, debt sales and claims against insurance policies. 

Write-offs are deducted from the allowance for losses when the Group judges the principal to be uncollectable and 
subsequent recoveries are added to the allowance for losses on a written-off account at the time cash is received or 
when an asset has been repossessed, the estimated remarketing gain may be booked as recovery. 

As part of its business activities, the Group periodically sells previously written-off financing receivables to external 
parties. These transactions are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 860-20 Sales of Financial Assets.

Provision for losses

Provision for losses on financing receivables is the expense related to maintaining the allowance for losses at an appro-
priate level to absorb the estimated probable future losses on financing receivables as at each period end date. Factors 
that could influence the provision for losses on financing receivables include:

 – The impact of general economic conditions on consumers, including unemployment levels, bankruptcy trends 
and interest rate movements;

 – Changes in consumer spending and payment behaviours;
 – Changes in the Group’s financing receivables portfolio, including the overall mix of accounts, products and loan 

balances within the portfolio;
 – The level and direction of historical and anticipated loan / lease delinquencies and write-offs;
 – The credit quality of the financing receivables portfolio, which reflects, among other factors, the Group’s 

underwriting practices and effectiveness of collection efforts; and
 – Regulatory changes or new regulatory guidance.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits with the Swiss National Bank or other banks 
and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid instruments with original maturities 
of three months or less. Restricted cash, which is not available for use in the ordinary course of operations and is 
restricted in terms of withdrawal or usage, is classified in “Other assets”.

Leases

The Group offers leases for both new and used vehicles (primarily cars but also other auto vehicles including light 
commercial vehicles, motorcycles and caravans) to private and self-employed individuals and small businesses. These 
lease transactions are considered and accounted for as direct financing leases as they fulfil the relevant criteria set out 
in ASC Topic 842. Direct financing leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments receivable plus the guaranteed 
residual value of the leased object less unearned income.

In line with ASC Topic 842, right-of-use assets represent the Group’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term 
and lease liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. 



Cembra – Annual Report 2022 137

Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of a lease based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Group determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. 
Operating lease right-of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment whereas operating lease liabilities 
are recognised in accrued expenses and other payables and other liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statements of 
financial position. No material finance leases have been recognised. 

As most of the Group’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Group uses an incremental borrowing rate based on 
the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Group uses 
the implicit rate when readily determinable. The operating lease right-of-use asset also includes any lease payments 
made and excludes lease incentives. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate leases. When it is 
reasonably certain that the Group will exercise an option to extend or terminate a lease, the amended term is included 
in the lease calculation. Lease expense for lease payments is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Variable lease payments are expensed in the period in which they occur. 

The Group has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components. For real estate leases, the Group has elected to 
account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. For automobile and IT asset leases, the 
Group has elected to account for the lease and non-lease components as separate components. 

The Group accounts for all short-term leases by recognising lease payments in net income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term and will not recognise any right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Group’s consolidated state-
ments of financial position. 

Investment securities

Investment securities include debt securities classified as available-for-sale. Regular-way security transactions are 
recorded on a trade-date basis. Debt securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value. Unrealised gains
and losses, which represent the difference between fair value and amortised cost, are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (AOCI). Amounts reported in AOCI are net of income taxes. Amortisation of premiums or dis-
counts is recorded in interest income using the effective interest method through the maturity date of the security.

Impairment on debt securities is recorded in the consolidated statements of income if a decline in fair value below 
amortised cost is considered other-than-temporary, that is, amounts due according to the contractual terms of the 
security are considered uncollectable, typically due to the deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuer. No 
impairment is recorded in connection with declines resulting from changes in interest rates to the extent the Group 
does not intend to sell the investments, nor it is more likely than not that the Group will be required to sell the invest-
ments before the recovery of their amortised cost bases, which may be at maturity.

Unrealised losses on available-for-sale securities are recognised in the consolidated statements of income when a 
decision has been made to sell a security.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. It is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration 
transferred, the fair value of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held 
equity interest in the acquired subsidiary, over the net fair values of the identifiable assets acquired less the liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition date. Goodwill is not amortised, instead it is tested for impairment annually, or if events or 
changes in circumstances happen which indicate that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s 
reporting units for the purposes of the impairment test. The measurement periods for the valuation of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed end as soon as information on the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
dates becomes available, but do not exceed 12 months. Adjustments in purchase price allocations may require a change 
in the amounts allocated to goodwill during the periods in which the adjustments are determined within this 12 month 
period. Please refer to note 8. Goodwill for further details.



Cembra – Annual Report 2022 138

Consolidated Financial Statements

Intangible assets and amortisation

The cost of intangible assets is amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The remaining useful 
life of an intangible asset that is being amortised is evaluated each reporting period to determine whether the events 
and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortisation. If the estimate of an intangible asset’s 
remaining useful life is changed, the remaining carrying amount of the intangible asset shall be amortised prospec-
tively over that revised remaining useful life. Amortisable intangible assets are tested for impairment based on undis-
counted cash flows and, if impaired, written down to fair value based on either discounted cash flows or appraised val-
ues. Intangible assets include internally developed and capitalised software, customer relationships and trademarks. 
Please refer to note 7. Intangible assets for further details.

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheets and their respective tax bases. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed using currently enacted tax rates and are shown on the face of the 
balance sheet. Income tax expense or benefit is recorded in income tax expense / benefit, except to the extent that 
the change relates to transactions recorded directly in total shareholders’ equity. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
by a valuation allowance, if necessary, to the amount that management believes will more likely than not be realised. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effect of changes in tax laws and rates in the period in which 
changes are enacted by the relevant authority. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented on a net basis for the 
same tax-paying component within the same tax jurisdiction. The Group determines whether it is more likely than 
not that an income tax position will be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the position. 
Sustainable income tax positions are then measured to determine the amount of benefit eligible for recognition in the 
financial statements. Each such sustainable income tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is 
more likely than not to be realised upon ultimate settlement.

Share-based compensation

The Group has share-based compensation programmes in place. It accounts for the compensation cost from share-
based payment transactions according to the fair-value-based method. The compensation cost is measured based on 
the grant-date fair value of the shares and is recognised over the requisite service period with a corresponding credit 
to equity. The compensation cost for an award with only service conditions that has a graded vesting schedule is rec-
ognised on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separate vesting portion of the award. The 
programmes are described in detail in note 26. Share-based compensation.

Debt

Loans that the Bank intends to hold to maturity are carried at amortised cost as the outstanding principal balance plus 
accrued interest, net of the following items: unamortised discounts, deferred loan origination fees. Interest income is 
accrued on the unpaid balance, and net deferred discounts and fees are amortised as an adjustment to the loan yield 
over the term of the related loans. For capital management purposes, the Bank issued hybrid capital instruments, 
either with a Tier 1 capital trigger or a write-off or contingent share conversions features. The embedded conversion 
option as linked to the Bank's shares is bifurcated for accounting purposes as measured separately via equity. The host 
contract is accounted for under the amortised cost method.

Treasury shares

The Group holds own shares which are recorded at cost and reported as treasury shares, resulting in a reduction to total 
shareholders’ equity. Dividends received on own shares are excluded from the consolidated statements of income and 
are recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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Pension obligation

Pension assumptions are significant inputs to the actuarial models that measure the Group’s pension benefit obligation 
and related effects on operations. The two assumptions regarding the discount rate and expected return on assets 
are important elements of pension plan expense and asset / liability measurement. The Group evaluates these criti-
cal assumptions at least once a year. The measurement date used to perform the actuarial valuation is 31 December. 
The Group periodically evaluates other assumptions involving demographic factors, such as retirement age, mortality, 
employee turnover, and updates them to reflect its experience and expectations for the future. Actual results in any 
given year will often differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other factors. Accumulated and pro-
jected benefit obligations are measured using the present value of expected payments. The Group discounts the cash 
payments using the weighted average of market-observed yields for high-quality corporate bonds with maturities that 
correspond to the expected payment of benefits. To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan 
assets, the Group considers current asset allocations, as well as historical and expected returns on various categories of 
plan assets. In developing future long-term return expectations for its benefit plan assets, the Group formulates views 
on the future economic environment. The Group evaluates general market trends and historical relationships among a 
number of key variables that impact asset class returns, such as expected earnings growth, inflation, valuations, yields 
and spreads, using both internal and external sources. The Group also takes into account expected volatility by asset 
class and diversification across classes to determine expected overall portfolio results given current allocations.

Fair value measurements

For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset 
or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market participant at the measurement date. In the absence 
of active markets for the identical assets or liabilities, such measurements involve developing assumptions based on 
observable market data and, in the absence of such data, internal information that is consistent with what market par-
ticipants would use in a hypothetical transaction that would occur at the measurement date. Observable inputs reflect 
market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. 
Preference is given to observable inputs. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1	 Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2	 Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 

markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant 
value drivers are observable.

Level 3	 Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.

The Group maintains policies and procedures to value instruments using the best and most relevant data available. 
Shares in investment companies and units in mutual funds which are not directly quoted on a public stock exchange 
and / or for which fair value is not readily determinable are measured at fair value using net asset value. With regard 
to Level 3 valuations, the Group performs a variety of procedures to assess the reasonableness of the valuations. Such 
reviews take into account any changes in the current interest rate and credit environment, as well as any other availa-
ble published market data.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Group is party to certain financial instruments that present the Group with off-balance sheet risk, primarily relat-
ing to credit, in the normal course of business. These financial instruments are commitments to extend credit and 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of both credit and interest rate risk in excess of the balances recognised in the 
Group’s consolidated statements of financial position.

The Group’s consolidated maximum exposure to credit losses under these commitments is represented by their total 
contractual amount. The Group follows the same credit and underwriting policies in making such commitments as it 
does for on-balance sheet instruments.
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2.  Accounting changes

Recently adopted accounting standards

On 26 January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-4 “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment”, which amends goodwill impairment test by eliminating step two that measures a goodwill 
impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that 
goodwill. Instead, under the amendments in this update, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill 
impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The guidance is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2020, including interim periods therein. The adoption of the standard as of 1 
January 2021 did not had an impact the Group’s financial position, results of operations and related notes. 

On 18 December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”. The amendments in 
the update simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC 
740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of ASC 740 by clarifying 
and amending existing guidance. The new guidance is effective for the Group starting in fiscal years beginning after 
December 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of the standard as of 1 January 2021 
did not had a material impact on the Group.  

Recently issued accounting standards to be effective in future periods

On 16 June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments”, which amends the guidance on the impairment of financial instruments. The ASU 
adds to US GAAP an impairment model, known as the current expected credit loss (CECL) model, that is based on 
expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity recognises as an allowance its estimate 
of expected credit losses, which the FASB believes will result in more timely recognition of such losses. The ASU is also 
intended to reduce the complexity of US GAAP by decreasing the number of credit impairment models that entities use 
to account for debt instruments. 

Subsequently, the FASB has issued several additional amendments to ASU 2016-13, which affect certain aspects related 
to clarification and updates to a variety of topics, as well as allowing for an irrevocable election of the fair value option 
for certain financial assets previously measured on an amortised cost basis upon transition. Additionally, the amend-
ments also deferred the effective date to annual periods beginning after 15 December 2022, and interim periods therein.
The Group has evaluated the impact of adoption, using the modified retrospective approach,  estimating an increase 
of allowance for credit losses of CHF 67 million, which will be recognised as cumulative effect adjustment to opening 
retained earnings as of 1 January 2023. Under US GAAP, provisions for losses on the income statement are not affected 
on the day one of adoption of CECL. 

On 5 August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06 “Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and 
Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments 
and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity”. The ASU reduces the number of models used to account for convertible instru-
ments, eliminating two out of five existing separation models (i.e. the convertible debt with a cash conversion feature 
and the convertible instrument with a beneficial conversion feature). The ASU furthermore provides more consist-
ent guidance on calculating the dilutive impact on earnings per share. The ASU is expected to reduce complexity and 
improve comparability of financial reporting associated with accounting for convertible instruments and contracts in 
an entity’s own equity. The new guidance is effective for the Group for fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2023, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Group plans to adopt the guidance as of 1 January 2024 and is 
currently assessing the impact of this guidance on its financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for contract assets 
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers”. This ASU amends ASC 805 to require that an entity recognize 
and measure contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 606. 
The amendments improve comparability after the business combination by providing consistent recognition and meas-
urement guidance for revenue contracts with customers acquired in a business combination and those not acquired 
in a business combination. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including 
interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments should be applied prospectively to business combinations 
occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. The Group does not expect the adoption of ASU 2021-08 to 
have a material impact on its financial statements.
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3. Business developments

In February 2022, the Group decided to close four branches in Geneva, Sion, Langenthal and Oerlikon as of April 2022,
reducing the number of branches to nine (please see note 6. Property, plant and equipment for more details).

In March 2022, the Group fully repaid its fifth securitisation transaction (Swiss Auto Lease 2019-1 GmbH) of TCHF 250,000
at its optional redemption date and in May 2022 issued an A- rated unsecured bond amounting to TCHF 250,000.

In October 2022, the Group repaid CHF 100 million unsecured bond and issued an A- rated unsecured bond amounting 
to TCHF 220,000.

As announced earlier, on 30 June 2022, the cooperation agreement with Migros for the Cumulus-Mastercard credit card 
terminated.

On 31 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of shares of Byjuno AG and its sister company Byjuno Finance AG (here-
inafter collectively referred to as "Byjuno"), a major provider of invoice payment solutions in Switzerland, for total 
consideration of CHF 60 million in cash without any earn-out. The Group intends to combine Byjuno with its subsidiary 
Swissbilling to create a leading provider of invoice payment solution with the aim to establish compelling solutions 
for pay-by-invoice services in Switzerland. Financing receivables generated by Swissbilling AG, Byjuno AG and Byjuno 
Finance AG are reported under buy now pay later ("BNPL"). Byjuno Finance AG has been formerly known as Intrum 
Finance Services AG.

The Group determined that this acquisition constitutes a business combination as defined by ASC Topic 805, Business 
Combinations. Accordingly, as of the date of the acquisition, the Group recorded the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at fair value. The Group determined fair values in accordance with the guidance provided in ASC Topic 820, 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. Fair value was established using a combination of market, income or cost 
approaches. The determination of fair values involve high degree of judgement and complexity. The estimation of 
expected future cash flows, market conditions, and other future events and actual results could differ materially.

The following table summarises the preliminary allocation of the Byjuno purchase price, which is based on the esti-
mated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the close date. The fair value of the assets acquired 
includes receivables from invoice financing, net of provision for losses  of CHF 47.6 million. The gross amount due under 
contracts is CHF 71.4 million, of which CHF 19.8 million is expected to be uncollectible and written off. Transaction costs 
of CHF 0.8 million were expensed as incurred.

CHF in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 9,362

Financing receivables, net 47,619

Intangible assets, net 17,911

Other current and non-current assets, including trade receivables 2,510

Total assets aquired 77,402

Term debt – 21,821

Trade payables – 22,151

Other current and non-current liabilities, including accrued expenses – 2,781

Deferred tax liabilities, net – 3,342

Total liabilities aquired – 50,095

Net identifiable assets acquired 27,307

Goodwill 32,693

Purchase price 60,000
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The allocation of the purchase price was based upon a preliminary valuation, and the estimates and assumptions are 
subject to refinement within the measurement period (up to one year from the acquisition close date). Adjustments to
the purchase price allocation may require adjustments to goodwill prospectively. 

The excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill. The 
goodwill associated with the acquisition includes the acquired assembled workforce, and the value arising from future 
cost efficiencies and other benefits that are expected to be generated by combining Swissbilling and Byjuno. The intan-
gible assets acquired mainly relate to customer relationships. Based on management's preliminary valuation of the 
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, preliminary goodwill of CHF 32.7 million was recorded. Goodwill 
recognised is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Refer to note 8. Goodwill for more information.

In addition, the Group paid a nominal value of CHF 22.1 million to settle a third-party liability of Byjuno AG assumed in 
the acquisition and replaced it with intercompany financing.

Net revenues of CHF 4.2 million and income before tax of CHF 0.9 million were recognised since the acquisition date and 
included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting period.  
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4. Financing receivables and allowance for losses

The Group’s credit risk appetite and strategy have been consistent over many years. This has assisted it to remain resil-
ient through economic headwinds, including the 2009 downturn and in the Covid-19 pandemic. In light of the current 
economic uncertainty, the Group's credit risk strategy continues to be cautious, and assesses the potential impact of 
various macroeconomic scenarios.

As part of the recent environment, the appropriate resources have been allocated to support collections strategies, 
while the usage of tools that were introduced at the beginning of the pandemic, such as repayment plans and payment
holidays, continues to be monitored regularly. It should be noted that the utilisation of these tools did not change the
original contractual payments terms, and therefore the reported figures regarding the over 30 days past due receiva-
bles and nonaccrual receivables are not affected. 

The environmental reserve, which was recorded on personal loans with the scope to further strengthen the allowance 
for losses, under the incurred loss concept, in light of Covid-19-related macroeconomic impacts was removed resulting 
to the reserve release of CHF 2.1 million in the first half of 2022.  Allowances for losses will be impacted by the upcoming 
CECL implementation under US GAAP as of 1 January 2023 (please refer to note 2. Accounting changes for more details).

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively, the Group’s financing receivables included lending to private customers, 
vehicle lease financing, credit card financing and BNPL products as follows:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Loans 3,726,282 3,611,064

Deferred costs, net 49,796 42,467

Total loans, including deferred costs, net 3,776,078 3,653,531

Investment in financing leases, net of deferred income 2,716,216 2,574,761

BNPL 1 120,176 66,484

Financing receivables before allowance for losses 6,612,469 6,294,776

Less allowance for losses 2 – 92,371 – 87,781

Financing receivables, net 6,520,097 6,206,995

1	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)
2	� Includes Covid-19 environmental reserve of TCHF 0 and TCHF 2,089 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively

The majority of the investment in financing leases is related to auto leases. Components of the Group’s net investment 
in financing leases, which are included in financing receivables above, are shown below:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Total minimum lease payments receivable 2,953,212 2,778,034

Deferred income 1 – 236,996 – 203,274

Investment in direct financing leases 2,716,216 2,574,761

Less allowance for losses – 10,530 – 10,849

Net investment in direct financing leases 2,705,686 2,563,912

1	� Includes TCHF 26,640 and TCHF 25,721 of initial direct costs on direct financing leases as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively
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The subsidiaries held TCHF 285,019 and TCHF 572,473 of net financing receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, as collateral to secure third-party debt in securitisations. See note 20. Variable interest entities for further 
details of securitisations.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s contractual maturities for loans and financing leases were:

Due in (CHF in thousands) Loans

Minimum lease  
payments  
receivable

2023  90,076  329,785 

2024  212,619  406,385 

2025  346,104  641,051 

2026  494,233  858,639 

2027  682,170  657,438 

2028 and thereafter  1,221,860  59,913 

Consumer revolving loans  679,219 –

Total 3,726,282 2,953,212

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities.

The following table provides further information about financing receivables:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Personal loans 2,449,184 2,356,414

Auto leases and loans 2,988,920 2,833,437

Credit cards 1,054,188 1,038,442

BNPL 1 120,176 66,484

Financing receivables, before allowance for losses 6,612,469 6,294,776

Allowance for losses 2 – 92,371 – 87,781

Financing receivables, net 6,520,097 6,206,995

1	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)
2	� Includes Covid-19 environmental reserve of TCHF 0 and TCHF 2,089 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively
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A summary of activity in the allowance for losses is shown below:

CHF in thousands
Balance at  

1 January 2022
Provision 
for losses

Amounts  
written off Recoveries Other 2

Balance at  
31 December 

2022

Personal loans 64,164 24,864 – 64,323 38,106 – 62,811

Auto leases and loans 13,482 3,006 – 31,235 28,369 – 13,622

Credit cards 8,403 7,308 – 17,566 11,195 – 9,340

BNPL 1 1,732 5,743 – 6,011 1,248 3,886 6,598

Total 87,781 40,920 – 119,134 78,917 3,886 92,371

As a % of total financing receivables, net 1.4 %

1	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)
2	� Other includes opening balances for allowances for losses from Byjuno AG and Byjuno Finance AG as of 1 November 2022 

CHF in thousands
Balance at  

1 January 2021
Provision 

for losses 3
Amounts  

written off Recoveries 3 Other

Balance at  
31 December 

2021

Personal loans 1 64,401 18,400 – 67,401 48,765 – 64,164

Auto leases and loans 12,097 12,467 – 35,046 23,963 – 13,482

Credit cards 6,375 7,538 – 16,591 11,081 – 8,403

BNPL 2 1,180 1,876 – 1,990 665 – 1,732

Total 1 84,055 40,282 – 121,028 84,474 – 87,781

As a % of total financing receivables, net 1.4 %

1	� Includes Covid-19 environmental reserve of TCHF 2,089
2	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA (classified as Other in 2021)
3	� Includes recoveries of TCHF 8,209 from previously written off financing receivables that were sold to a third party

Credit quality of financing receivables

The Group describes the characteristics of the financing receivables and provides information about payment perfor-
mance, credit quality indicators and impairment. The Group manages these portfolios using delinquency and nonac-
crual data as key performance indicators. The categories used within this section such as nonaccrual financing receiv-
ables are defined by the authoritative guidance, and the Group bases the categorisation on the related scope and 
definitions contained in the related standards. The category of delinquent customer accounts is defined by the Group 
and is used in the process of managing the financing receivables. Definitions of these categories are provided in note 
1.  Basis of presentation and summary of significant accounting policies.
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Past due financing receivables

The following table displays payment performance of financing receivables as a percentage of loans and investment 
in direct financing leases:

2022 2021

Over 30 days  
past due

Over 90 days  
past due

Over 30 days  
past due

Over 90 days  
past due

Personal loans 3.4 % 1.3 % 3.1 % 1.3 %

Auto leases and loans 0.9 % 0.1 % 0.6 % 0.1 %

Credit cards 1.2 % 0.4 % 1.0 % 0.3 %

BNPL 1 8.2 % 3.6 % – –

Total 2 2.0 % 0.7 % 1.6 % 0.6 %

1	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)
2	� The 2021 total past due rates were excluding  Swissbilling SA and the impact on the  Group’s past due financing receivables was not material 

Non-accrual financing receivables

The following table provides further information about financing receivables that are classified as non-accrual:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Personal loans 32,447 29,361

Auto leases and loans 2,861 2,473

Credit cards 4,304 3,463

BNPL 1 4,323 –

Total 2 43,935 35,297

Non-performing loan coverage 3 210 % 249 %

1	� BNPL includes Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)
2	� In 2021 total non-accrual financing receivable was excluding Swissbilling SA and the impact on the  Group’s non-accrual financing receivable was not material  
3	� Calculated as allowance for losses divided by non-accrual financing receivables

Credit quality indicators

For its lending products, the Group uses consumer ratings (CR) to assess overall credit quality. There are five consumer 
ratings, each having an implied probability of default based on historical default experience, with a default definition 
of 90 days past due or write-off. The five ratings and their associated probabilities of default are:
a.	 CR1 0.00% – 1.20%;
b.	 CR2 1.21% – 2.97%;
c.	 CR3 2.98% – 6.99%;
d.	 CR4 7.00% – 13.16%; and
e.	 CR5 13.17% and greater.

For private customers, the consumer rating is derived from an application credit score that is calculated through one 
of the Group’s internal scorecards. Each credit score translates into one of the consumer ratings. For commercial cus-
tomers, an obligor rating (OR) is assigned. The obligor rating can be translated into the grades of the consumer rating.
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Scorecard monitoring, including parity test, is run on a bi-yearly basis to monitor at portfolio level whether the con-
sumer ratings adequately reflect the credit quality. The parity tests confirm that although a consumer rating may have 
been assigned more than 12 months ago and so the initial 12-month window for probability of default has passed, the 
rating still accurately reflects the probability of default. 

2022

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) CR1 CR2 CR3 CR4 CR5

Personal loans 1,054,362 769,455 437,222 124,313 42,467

Auto leases and loans 1,593,291 977,551 346,736 56,644 14,698

Credit cards 767,441 204,635 76,281 5,752 79

Total 1 3,415,094 1,951,641 860,238 186,709 57,244

As a % of total financing receivables  
before allowance for losses 1 52.8 % 30.2 % 13.3 % 2.9 % 0.9 %

1	� Does not include eny Credit GmbH  and BNPL related to Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022). There is 
no material impact on the Group’s consumer ratings

2021

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) CR1 CR2 CR3 CR4 CR5

Personal loans 978,938 766,406 419,507 114,927 38,539

Auto leases and loans 1,487,647 913,173 356,697 58,917 17,003

Credit cards 782,643 185,372 65,101 5,252 74

Total 1 3,249,227 1,864,950 841,306 179,096 55,616

As a % of total financing receivables  
before allowance for losses 1 52.5 % 30.1 % 13.6 % 2.9 % 0.9 %

1	� Does not include eny Credit GmbH and Swissbilling SA. There is no material impact on the Group’s consumer ratings
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5.  Investment securities

Investment securities are comprised of debt securities available for sale.

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Debt securities available for sale 97,337 –

Total investment securities 97,337 –

All investment securities are Level 1 instruments in the fair value hierarchy. The following table summarises amortised 
cost, fair value and unrealised gains and losses of debt securities available for sale by category.

2022 2021

Amortised 
cost

Gross 
unrealised 

gains

Gross 
unrealised 

losses Fair value
Amortised 

cost

Gross 
unrealised 

gains

Gross 
unrealised 

losses Fair value

Debt securities issued by Swiss 
cantons 30,011 – – 351 29,661 – – – –

Debt securities issued by Swiss 
funding institutions 39,762 – – 382 39,381 – – – –

Debt securities issued by banks 9,908 – – 28 9,879

Debt securities issued by 
supranational organisations 18,561 – – 145 18,416 – – – –

Debt securities available for 
sale 98,242 – – 905 97,337 – – – –

The maturity of debt securities available for sale is presented in the table below:

Amortised cost Fair value

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2022

Within 1 year 19,845 19,777

From 1 to 5 years 78,397 77,560

From 5 to 10 years – –

After 10 years – –

Total debt securities 98,242 97,337
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6.  Property, plant and equipment

At 31 December (CHF in thousands)
Estimated useful lives 

(years) 2022 2021

Original cost

Buildings and improvements (5-40) 8,598 8,486

Office equipment (3-10) 19,756 16,842

Total 28,354 25,328

Accumulated depreciation

Buildings and improvements – 7,242 – 6,512

Office equipment – 15,455 – 13,631

Total – 22,697 – 20,143

Net carrying value

Buildings and improvements 1,356 1,974

Office equipment 4,301 3,211

Total 5,657 5,185

Depreciation expense was TCHF 2,553 and TCHF 2,825 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. The 
Group did not recognise any impairment losses in both 2022 and 2021.

The Group holds operating leases primarily related to real estate and automobiles. 
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At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Components of the lease liability

Operating lease - right-of use (ROU) assets 19,610 23,678

Operating lease - lease liability 19,751 23,785

Short-term classification  5,859  6,445 

Long-term classification  13,892  17,340 

Supplemental  information

Right-of-use (ROU) assets obtained for new lease liabilities  1,112 –

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)  3.84  4.32 

Weighted average discount rate 0.19 % 0.19 %

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Components of the lease expense

Operating lease expense 1 6,687 6,787

Supplemental cash flow information

Operating cash flows paid for operating leases  6,553  6,358 

Operating cash flows paid for short-term  392  389 

1	� Includes impairment loss of TCHF 236 and TCHF 0 on operating leases for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022

Maturities of operating lease liabilities

2023  5,888 

2024  4,610 

2025  4,798 

2026  3,785 

2027 and thereafter  742 

Total lease payments  19,823 

Less: imputed interest  – 72 

Total  19,751 
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7.  Intangible assets

CHF in thousands
Estimated useful lives 

(years) 2022 2021

Original cost

Capitalised software (1-5) 114,009 101,040

Customer relationships (5 - 5.5) 64,802 48,087

Trademarks (5) 10,957 10,957

Total 189,768 160,085

Accumulated amortisation

Capitalised software – 75,241 – 64,278

Customer relationships – 29,268 – 20,563

Trademarks – 7,309 – 5,117

Total – 111,818 – 89,958

Net carrying value

Capitalised software 38,768 36,762

Customer relationships 35,535 27,524

Trademarks 3,647 5,840

Total 77,950 70,127

Amortisation expense related to intangible assets was TCHF 23,402 and TCHF 22,220 for the year ended 31 December 
2022 and 2021, respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the Group estimates the annual pre-tax amortisation for intangi-
ble assets over the next five years to be as follows:

CHF in thousands 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 and thereafter

Estimated pre-tax amortisation 24,919 21,815 11,158 7,114 12,944
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8. Goodwill

On 16 February 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of Swissbilling SA, a Swiss invoice financing company with 
operations mainly in the French-speaking region of Switzerland. On 30 November 2017, the Group acquired 100% of 
outstanding shares of EFL Autoleasing AG, a Swiss auto leasing company domiciled in Winterthur. On 2 September 2019, 
the Group acquired 100% of the shares of cashgate AG, a leading consumer finance provider in Switzerland, for total 
consideration of CHF 277 million. On 31 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of shares of Byjuno AG and its sister 
company Byjuno Finance AG, a major provider of invoice payment solutions in Switzerland, for total consideration of 
CHF 60 million. Goodwill related to these acquisitions is presented below. 

The Group continually assesses whether or not there has been a triggering event requiring a review of goodwill. In 
estimating the fair value of the reporting units, the Group applied the income approach. This approach is based on a 
discount rate which reflects the relevant risks and projected cash flows determined from the Group’s updated five-year 
strategic business plan that included significant management assumptions and estimates based on its view of current 
and future economic conditions.

Based on the goodwill impairment analysis as of 30 September 2022 and follow up procedures performed covering 
the last quarter 2022, the Group concluded that the estimated fair value for all the reporting units with goodwill sub-
stantially exceeded the related carrying values and no impairment was necessary at 31 December 2022. There are no 
deferred taxes booked related to goodwill. 

CHF in thousands
Balance at  

1 January 2022
Goodwill acquired 
during the period Other

Balance at  
31 December 2022

Gross amount of goodwill 156,828 32,693 – 189,521

Accumulated impairment – – – –

Net book value 156,828 32,693 – 189,521

At 31 December (CHF in thousands)
Balance at  

1 January 2021
Goodwill acquired 
during the period Other

Balance at  
31 December 2021

Gross amount of goodwill 156,828 – – 156,828

Accumulated impairment – – – –

Net book value 156,828 – – 156,828
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9.  Other assets

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Restricted cash 17,797 36,476

Tax receivables 38,456 34,608

Other receivables 11,749 7,779

Deferred expenses 9,357 7,594

Other 33,113 1,260

Total other assets 110,472 87,717

Restricted cash is not available for use in the ordinary course of operations and is restricted in terms of withdrawal 
or usage. The Group had TCHF 17,797 and TCHF 36,476 of restricted cash related to the consolidated VIEs (see note 20. 
Variable interest entities) as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

The tax receivables at 31 December 2022 consisted of VAT input tax. 

Implementation costs associated with cloud computing arrangements recorded as deferred expenses were TCHF 3,268 
and TCHF 0 as of 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. There was no amortisation recorded for hosting arrange-
ments implementation costs for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other includes pension plan asset of TCHF 31,698 and TCHF 0 as of 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. For more 
information please refer to note 12. Pension plans.

10.  Deposits

The following table shows the maturities of the Group’s customers’ saving deposits, term deposits and prepaid card 
balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

On demand 166,062 167,915

Less than 3 months 1,199,110 347,803

3 to less than 6 months 351,406 172,364

6 to less than 12 months 425,033 901,878

12 months plus, thereof 1,371,505 1,609,437

due in 2023 – 576,872

due in 2024 486,915 412,032

due in 2025 309,022 263,565

due in 2026 154,990 126,978

due in 2027 259,739 101,764

due in 2028 and thereafter 160,840 128,227

Total 3,513,116 3,199,397

There is no term maturity for on-demand saving deposits. All deposits are denominated in CHF. The weighted average inter-
est rate on all deposits was approximately 0.77% and 0.37% as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
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11.  Short-term and long-term debt

Short-term and long-term debt is shown below:

2022 2,021

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) Maturity Amount
Contractual 

interest rate 2 Amount
Contractual 

interest rate 2

Short-term portion

Non-recourse borrowings (Auto ABS) 1 2022 – – 250,000 0.15 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2022 – – 99,994 1.25 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2023 250,000 0.00 % – –

External debt (unsecured bond) 2023 200,000 0.18 % – –

Long-term portion

External debt (unsecured bond) 2023 – – 250,000 0.00 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2023 – – 200,000 0.18 %

Non-recourse borrowings (Auto ABS) 1 2024 250,000 0.00 % 250,000 0.00 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2024 200,055 0.25 % 200,095 0.25 %

External debt (perpetual tier 1 capital 
bond) 2024 150,000 2.50 % 150,000 2.50 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2025 150,295 0.38 % 150,413 0.38 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2025 250,000 1.18 % – –

External debt (unsecured bond) 2026 125,114 0.88 % 125,147 0.88 %

External debt (senior convertible 
bond) 2026 248,993 0.00 % 248,709 0.00 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2026 200,000 0.15 % 200,000 0.15 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2027 220,000 3.11 % – –

External debt (unsecured bond) 2028 175,000 0.29 % 175,000 0.29 %

External debt (unsecured bond) 2028 200,000 0.42 % 200,000 0.42 %

Debt issuance costs – 6,429 – 7,301

Total short-term and long-term debt 2,613,029 2,492,058

1	� Related to consolidated VIEs, for further details refer to note 20. Variable interest entities
2	� Rounded to two decimal places

The contractual rate represents the interest due on the relevant debt at the reporting date, whereas the effective inter-
est (all-in) rate reflects, in addition to the contractual interest rate, fees and debt issuance costs that are amortised over
the expected life of the instrument. As per 31 December 2022, the Group had fixed rate funding only.

As per 31 December 2022 and 2021, unamortised debt issuance costs amounted to TCHF 6,429 and TCHF 7,301, respec-
tively. Commitment fees are recognised as incurred over the commitment period.

On 28 January 2022, the Group signed a revolving credit facility with an international bank with a committed term until
2025. The facility consists of a TCHF 100,000 unsecured commitment.
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On 16 December 2021, the Group signed a revolving credit facility with a Swiss bank with a committed term until 2025. 
The facility consists of a TCHF 50,000 unsecured commitment.

On 4 July 2021, the Group signed a revolving credit facility with a Swiss bank with a committed term until 2024. The 
facility consists of a TCHF 100,000 unsecured commitment.

On 4 December 2020, the Group signed a revolving credit facility with a Swiss bank with a committed term until end of
2023. The facility consists of a TCHF 150,000 unsecured commitment.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group maintained TCHF 400,000 of undrawn committed facilities. The weighted 
average contractual commitment fee for all facilities was 0.23% and 0.24% at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

On 18 October 2022, the Group issued a TCHF 220,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with maturity of four and half 
years and a coupon of 3.1125%.

On 17 May 2022, the Group issued a TCHF 250,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with maturity of three and half years
and a coupon of 1.1833%.

On 21 October 2021, the Group issued a TCHF 200,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with maturity of seven years and
a coupon of 0.4175%.

On 1 October 2019, the Group issued a TCHF 200,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with a maturity of seven years and
a coupon of 0.15%.

On 8 July 2019, the Group issued a TCHF 250,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with maturity of three and three quarter
years and a coupon of 0.0% and a TCHF 175,000 senior unsecured bond at 100% with a maturity of eight years and a 
coupon of 0.29%. 

On 4 July 2019, the Group issued a TCHF 150,000 additional tier1 bond at 100% with perpetual maturity (earliest call in 
November 2024) and a coupon of 2.5%. The bond is eligible for tier1 capital, and will be written-off if a pre-specified 
trigger event occurs in relation to the regulatory capital adequacy ratio (>5.125% Common Equity Tier 1). If capital 
triggering occurs, the investor receives a write-down of the outstanding amount of the debt, which may be defined as 
either fixed or variable (depending upon the point of conversion). Given the extremely low likelihood of conversion, no 
separate derivative was recorded related to the value of the conversion option.

On 2 July 2019, the Group issued a TCHF 250,000 convertible bond at 100.88% with a maturity of seven years and a coupon 
rate of 0.0%. The effective interest rate on the debt component for the period ended 30 June 2022 was 0.11%. The conver-
sion right allows the bondholders to convert their bonds any time 41 days after settlement up to and including 40 days 
efore maturity. When conversion rights are exercised, holders who convert their bonds will receive a) if the conversion 
value is lower than or equal to the aggregate principal amount of the bonds converted by the same holder at any one 
time, the cash conversion amount; or b) if the conversion value is greater than the aggregate principal amount of the 
bonds converted by the same holder at any one time the cash conversion amount and the net shares. Upon conversion, 
it is at the discretion of Cembra Money Bank AG to deliver net shares or its equivalent in cash. The convertible bond has 
an initial conversion price of CHF 122.02. The embedded conversion option met the criteria for a cash conversion option 
via ASC Topic 470 and is measured separate via equity at TCHF 4,200.

On 3 March 2020, the Group launched its sixth auto lease asset backed security (“ABS”) transaction and issued fixed rate
senior notes of TCHF 250,000 on the Swiss capital market with a contractual maturity of ten years, an optional redemp-
tion date of four years from the date of issuance and coupon of 0.00%.

The Group has a total outstanding of TCHF 2,470,000 of senior unsecured bonds (including ABS and convertible) and 
TCHF 150,000 subordinated additional tier 1 bond issued as at 31 December 2022. These bonds have been issued in 2014 
(maturing in 2022), 2016 (maturing in 2023), 2017 (maturing in 2024 and 2025), 2018 (maturing in 2026), 2019 (maturing in 
2022, 2023, 2026 and 2027), 2020 (maturing in 2024), 2021 (maturing 2028) and 2022 (maturing 2025 and 2027).  All debt 
instruments are repayable in full at maturity or at the earliest possible redemption date.
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12.  Pension plans

The Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) participate in pension plans that provide benefits in accordance 
with the requirements of the Swiss Occupational Pension Act (BVG). The Group’s participation in these pension plans 
has been accounted for as defined benefit plans in the consolidated financial statements. The funding policy of the 
Group’s pension plans is compliant with the local government and tax requirements.

For the plans the Group recognises an asset for the overfunded status or a liability for the underfunded status in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. The Group records annual amounts relating to its pension plans based 
on calculations that incorporate various actuarial and other assumptions, including discount rates, mortality rates, 
assumed rates of return, compensation increases and employee turnover rates. The Group reviews its assumptions on 
an annual basis and makes modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when it is appropriate 
to do so. The Group believes that the assumptions utilised in recording its obligations under its plans are reasonable 
based on its experience and market conditions. The net periodic costs are recognised as employees render the services 
necessary to earn the postretirement benefits. 

Apart from temporary staff with an expected duration of employment of less than three months and people receiving 
a disability pension whose degree of incapacity to perform day-to-day tasks is greater than 70%, all employees aged 
at least 17 and with an annual base salary exceeding 75% of the applicable maximum single old-age state pension are 
insured. As a general rule, the statutory retirement age is 65; however, early retirement, starting from the age of 58, is 
possible. The pension plans insure both mandatory occupational benefits and extra mandatory benefits. The Group 
uses a 31 December measurement date for the plans.

The Group’s pension plan participants as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively, were as follows:

At 31 December 2022 2021

Active employees  984  972 

Beneficiaries and pensioners  166  162 

Total  1,150  1,134 

The cost of the pension plans is presented below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Service cost for benefits earned Compensation and benefits  8,368  8,479 

Prior service credit amortisation General and administrative expenses  – 1,416  – 1,413 

Expected return on plan assets General and administrative expenses  – 8,489  – 7,565 

Interest cost on benefit obligations General and administrative expenses  685  332 

Net actuarial loss amortisation General and administrative expenses  1,769  6,473 

Net periodic benefit cost  917  6,306 

The actuarial assumptions at 31 December are used to measure the year-end benefit obligations and the pension costs 
for the subsequent year. Actuarial assumptions are presented below:

At 31 December 2022 2021

Discount rate 2.30 % 0.20 %

Compensation increases 2.33 % 1.79 %

Expected return on assets 3.50 % 2.50 %
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To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets the Group considers current asset alloca-
tions and historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. In developing future return expect
ations for the pension plan’s assets, the Group formulates a view on the future economic environment. Furthermore, 
the Group evaluates general market trends and historical relationships among a number of key variables that impact 
asset class returns such as expected earnings growth, inflation, valuations, yields and spreads, using both internal and 
external sources. The Group also takes into account expected volatility by asset class and diversification across classes 
to determine expected overall portfolio returns given current allocations. Based on the analysis of future expectations 
of asset performance, past return results and the current asset allocations, the Group assumed a 3.5% long-term-
expected return on the assets. For the pension plan, the Group applies the expected rate of return to the market value 
of assets. The Group amortises experienced gains and losses, as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions 
and plan provisions, over the average expected years of service of the employees.

The funding policy of the pension plan is aimed to contribute an amount sufficient to meet minimum funding require-
ments, as set forth in employee benefit and tax laws, plus any additional amounts which may be determined appro-
priate by the management. Management expects to contribute approximately TCHF 10,367 to the pension plan in 2023.
Benefit obligations are described in the following tables. Accumulated and projected benefit obligations (ABO and 
PBO, respectively) represent the obligations of the pension plan for past service as at the measurement date. ABO is 
the present value of benefits earned to date with benefits computed on the basis of current compensation levels. PBO 
is ABO increased to reflect expected future compensation. 

The accumulated benefit obligation was TCHF 278,686 and TCHF 335,985 for 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
The changes in the projected benefit obligation are presented below:

CHF in thousands 2022 2021

Balance at 1 January  344,557  339,575 

Service cost for benefits earned  8,368  8,479 

Interest cost on benefit obligations  685  332 

Participant contributions  6,954  6,903 

Actuarial (gain) / loss, net  – 66,503  – 3,675 

Benefits (paid) / received, net  – 11,387  – 7,057 

Business combinations  3,003 –

Plan change  – 71 –

Balance at 31 December  285,606  344,557 

Plan assets are reported at fair value. The inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of the assets 
are consistently applied and described in note 1. Basis of presentation and summary of significant accounting policies.
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The changes in the fair value of plan assets are presented below:

CHF in thousands 2022 2021

Balance at 1 January  341,202  304,896 

Actual return on plan assets  – 33,247  26,075 

Employer contributions  10,529  10,385 

Participant contributions  6,954  6,903 

Benefits (paid) / received, net  – 11,387  – 7,057 

Business combinations  3,253 –

Balance at 31 December  317,304  341,202 

The asset allocations are described below:

At 31 December
2022 

Target allocation
2022 

Actual allocation

Equity securities

Swiss equity securities 13 % 11 %

Non-Swiss equity securities 23 % 21 %

Debt securities

Swiss bonds 18 % 20 %

Non-Swiss bonds 17 % 16 %

Real estate funds 19 % 24 %

Other investments 10 % 8 %

The pension fund board sets investment policies and strategies and oversees the investment allocation, which include 
selecting investment managers, commissioning periodic asset-liability studies and setting long-term strategic targets. 
Long-term strategic investment objectives take into consideration a number of factors, including the funded status of 
the plan, a balance between risk and return and the plan’s liquidity requirements. Target allocation percentages are 
established at an asset class level by the pension fund board. Target allocation ranges are guidelines, not limitations, 
and occasionally the pension fund board will approve allocations above or below a target range. The pension fund board 
monitors the plan’s liquidity position in order to meet the near-term benefit payment and other cash commitments.

The pension fund assets are invested subject to the following additional guidelines:

 – Investment in the following assets may not exceed the maximum % of total assets in the plan: Swiss bonds 22%, 
non-Swiss bonds 21%, Swiss equity securities 16%, non-Swiss equity securities 30%, real estate funds 29% and 
alternative funds 20%;

 – No single bond may exceed more than 10% of total assets; and
 – No single equity security or real estate investment can exceed more than 5% of total assets.
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The pension fund did not hold direct investments, but indirect investments through funds. The fair values of the pen-
sion plan investments are presented below:

2022

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Equity securities

Swiss equity securities  35,730 – –  35,730 

Non-Swiss equity securities  65,276 – –  65,276 

Debt securities – – – –

Swiss bonds  62,689 – –  62,689 

Non-Swiss bonds  51,749 – –  51,749 

Real estate funds –  77,454 –  77,454 

Other investments 1  4,801  12,376 –  17,177 

Total investments  220,246  89,830 –  310,076 

Other  7,228 

Total assets  317,304 

1	� Primarily includes infrastructure funds and cash

2021

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Equity securities

Swiss equity securities  44,481 – –  44,481 

Non-Swiss equity securities  80,352 – –  80,352 

Debt securities – – – –

Swiss bonds  71,106 – –  71,106 

Non-Swiss bonds  60,668 – –  60,668 

Real estate funds –  69,868 –  69,868 

Other investments 1  6,524  7,780 –  14,304 

Total investments  263,132  77,648 –  340,780 

Other  422 

Total assets  341,202 

1	� Primarily includes infrastructure funds and cash
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The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position were as follows:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Funded status  31,698  – 3,355 

Pension asset (liability) recorded in the statement of financial position

Other asset (liabilities)

Due after one year  31,698  – 3,355 

Net amount recognised  31,698  – 3,355 

Amounts recorded in shareholders' equity (unamortised)

Prior service credit  – 1,677  – 3,022 

Net actuarial (gain) loss  – 15,525  11,011 

Net amount recognised  – 17,202  7,989 

In 2023, the Group estimates that it will amortise TCHF 1,000 of prior service credit and TCHF 2,497 of net actuarial gain 
for the pension plan from shareholders’ equity into pension cost. 

The estimated future benefit payments are described below:

CHF in thousands 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028-2032

Pension plan 21,572 20,578 21,040 20,938 20,865 79,437

13.  Other liabilities

Other liabilities primarily includes deferred compensation related to the Group’s jubilee plan amounting to TCHF 3,187 
and TCHF 3,427 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The jubilee plan is a voluntary benefit provided by the Group to its 
employees based on their years of service.  It also comprises of pension plans funded status of TCHF 0 and TCHF 3,355 
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

For detailed information on operating lease - lease liability please refer to note 6. Property, plant and equipment.  
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14.  Capital adequacy

The Group is subject to FINMA regulations. The capital levels of the Group are subject to quantitative requirements 
and qualitative judgements by the regulators, including FINMA, about the components of capital, risk weightings and 
other factors.

The Group is applying the definite Basel III rules effective since 1 January 2013. Under Basel III, a variety of basic 
approaches are available to banks for the calculation of capital adequacy requirements for credit, market and opera-
tional risks. The Group uses the International standard approach (“SA-BIS” approach) to calculate the minimum require-
ment for covering credit risk. It is entitled to use a standardised approach to calculate the capital charge for market 
risk. The Group also applies a standardised approach to calculate the capital charge for operational risk management. 
Thus it fulfils the qualitative and quantitative requirements of the Ordinance on Capital Adequacy and Risk Diversifica-
tion for Banks and Securities Dealers (CAO, SR 952.03).

The total eligible regulatory capital of the Group comprises Tier 1, Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1), additional Tier 1 capital 
(AT1), Tier 2 (provisions for defaulted risks) and consists of shareholders’ equity including net income for the current 
year. Deductions from Tier 1 include, among other items, anticipated but non-declared dividends, own shares, good-
will and deferred tax assets. Risk-weighted assets include consolidated balance sheet assets, off-balance sheet arrage-
ments converted into credit equivalents, non-counterparty risk, market risk, operational risk from processes, people, 
systems and external events and equity participation in the non-consolidated subsidiaries.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group adheres to the applicable regulatory requirements for a category 4 bank set by 
FINMA. The Group aims to consistently operate with a capital base that is well above this mark. The Group was ade-
quately capitalised under the regulatory provisions outlined by FINMA and the Bank for International Settlements.

Further information on capital adequacy is contained in the separate document "Basel III Pillar 3 disclosures 2022" 
available at www.cembra.ch/financialreports.

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Eligible regulatory capital

Tier 1 capital 1,055,014 1,056,594

of which CET1 capital 905,014 906,594

of which additional Tier 1 capital 150,000 150,000

Tier 2 capital 3,272 –

Total eligible capital 1,058,287 1,056,594

Risk-weighted assets

Credit risk  5,022,582  4,821,675 

Non counterparty risk  39,797  39,289 

Market risk  346  1,385 

Operational risk  715,084  737,719 

Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (risk-weighted with 250 %)1  160,000 –

Total risk-weighted assets 5,937,808 5,600,068

Capital ratios

CET1 ratio 15.2 % 16.2 %

Tier 1 ratio 17.8 % 18.9 %

Total capital ratio 17.8 % 18.9 %

1	� Related to the equity participation in the non-consolidated subsidiaries
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15.  Earnings per share and additional share information

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares plus the effect 
of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential 
common shares include outstanding restricted stock units ("RSUs") and performance share units ("PSUs").

The components of basic and dilutive EPS are as follows:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Net income attributable to shareholders for basic earnings per share (CHF in thousands) 169,300 161,495

Net income attributable to shareholders for diluted earnings per share (CHF in thousands) 169,300 161,495

Weighted-average number of common shares 

Weighted-average number of common shares issued  30,000,000  30,000,000 

Less weighted-average number of treasury shares  647,864  621,475 

Weighted-average numbers of common shares outstanding for basic earnings per share  29,352,136  29,378,525 

Dilution effect number of shares  20,942  16,219 

Weighted-average numbers of common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share  29,373,078  29,394,745 

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)  5.77  5.50 

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF)  5.76  5.49 

The amount of common shares outstanding has changed as follows:

2022 2021

Common shares issued

Balance at beginning of period  30,000,000  30,000,000 

Issuance of common shares – –

Balance at end of period  30,000,000  30,000,000 

Treasury shares

Balance at beginning of period  613,931  629,535 

Share-based compensation  – 7,174  – 20,604 

Purchase  50,000  5,000 

Balance at end of period  656,757  613,931 

Common shares outstanding  29,343,243  29,386,069 
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16.  Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, and excludes any amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concur-
rent with a specific revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by the Group from a customer, are excluded from 
revenue. The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a contractual performance obligation.

These performance obligations are typically satisfied as the services in the contract are rendered. The contract terms 
are generally such that they do not result in any contract assets. The contracts generally do not include a significant 
financing component or obligations for refunds or other similar obligations. The contracts generally do not include   
variable consideration, therefore there is no significant judgement required in this respect.

Nature of services
The Group provides finance solutions to its customers. The main revenue streams of the Group arise from personal 
loans, leases and credit cards as well as from insurance products. Certain credit card related fees and insurance com-
missions are in the scope of ASC Topic 606. 

Commission and fee income related to credit cards include certain transaction-based and service fees. Those fees are 
recognised as the services are rendered, which is when the transaction happens and is processed. In case of credit 
cards, the Group additionally earns interchange fees calculated as a percentage of total credit card transaction vol-
ume. Those fees are recognised when the transactions are processed.

The Group also offers insurance products to its customers. Those products are complementary to the Group’s lending 
products, and the Group acts as an agent to insurance companies. For arranging between the customer and the insurer, 
the Group is entitled to keep a part of the insurance premium as its commission, which is recognised on a net basis as 
the services are rendered.

Disaggregation of revenues

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Insurance 23,448 22,971

Credit cards 94,765 80,429

Total 118,213 103,400

The table above differs from note 24. Commissions and fee income as it includes only contracts with customers that are 
in scope of ASC Topic 606 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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17.  Income tax expense

The provision for income taxes is summarised in the table below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Current tax expense 28,882 39,248

Deferred tax expense / (benefit) from temporary differences 12,286 – 261

Income tax expense 41,168 38,987

Deferred income tax balances reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the carrying amounts for income tax purposes.

Under Swiss law, a resident company is subject to income tax at the federal, cantonal and communal levels. The federal 
statutory tax rate is 8.5%. The cantonal and communal corporation tax rates vary. The Group’s effective tax rates were 
approximately 20% and 19% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Principal components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Assets 

Pension plans – 532

Operating lease - lease liability 3,792 4,567

Loss carried forward 231 95

Other 612 658

Total deferred tax assets 4,635 5,852

Liabilities

Deferred loan origination fees and costs – 465 – 720

Intangibles – 7,272 – 6,264

Pension plans – 6,101 –

Operating lease - right-of-use assets – 3,765 – 4,546

CECL adoption in individual financial statements – 12,887 –

Total deferred tax liabilities – 30,490 – 11,530

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) – 25,855 – 5,678

Management believes that the realisation of the recognised deferred tax assets is more likely than not, based on 
expectations regarding future taxable income. In assessing the realisability of deferred tax assets, the management 
considers whether it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realised. The ul- 
timate realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods 
in which the temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the 
level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax 
assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the Group will realise the benefits of these 
deductible differences. The amount of the deferred tax assets is considered realisable, however, it could be reduced in 
the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry-forward period are significantly reduced.

The Group has no unrecognised tax benefits. Management believes that there are no uncertain tax positions that 
would require a reserve.
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18.  Commitments and guarantees

The Group’s guarantees are provided in the ordinary course of business and are underwritten by considering the eco-
nomic, liquidity and credit risk of the counterparty.

Swiss banking law and the deposit insurance system require Swiss banks and securities dealers to jointly guarantee an 
amount of up to CHF 6 billion for privileged client deposits in the event that a Swiss bank or securities dealer becomes 
insolvent. Upon occurrence of a payout event triggered by a specified restriction of business imposed by FINMA or by 
the compulsory liquidation of another deposit-taking bank, the Group’s contribution will be calculated based on its 
share of privileged deposits in proportion to total privileged deposits. Based on FINMA’s estimate, the Group’s share 
in the deposit insurance guarantee programme was TCHF 6,208 and TCHF 6,388 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, res
pectively. The deposit insurance is a guarantee and exposes the Group to additional risk. As at 31 December 2022, the 
Group considers the probability of a material loss from this obligation to be remote. 

The Bank has issued a comfort letter (guarantee) towards Swisscom Directories AG as part of a factoring agreement 
between the subsidiary Swissbilling SA and Swisscom Directories AG. The guarantee covers the net financial obliga-
tions of Swissbilling SA to Swisscom Directories AG up to a maximum amount of TCHF 35,000, in the event Swissbilling 
SA is not able to meet its financial obligations. The commitment is irrevocable until all net financial obligations have 
been settled with Swisscom Directories AG. Exposure as at 31 December 2022 amounts to TCHF 24,553 and management 
assesses that the probability of payout is remote.

Byjuno Finance AG issues payment guarantees towards merchants for cases in which the customers will not meet 
their financial obligations towards them, through a variety of payment guarantee products. These payment guaran-
tees cover the off-balance sheet exposure that represents the outstanding balance to the merchants prior to the guar-
antee execution timeline (on-balance sheet exposure). The commitment is irrevocable, the exposure as at 31 December 
2022 amounts to TCHF 7,486 and management assesses that the probability of payout is remote.

For details on rental commitments under non-cancellable operating leases refer to note 6. Property, plant and equipment.

19.  Financial instruments

The following table provides information about the assets and liabilities not carried at fair value in the statement of 
financial position.

The table excludes finance leases and non-financial assets and liabilities and convertible bonds. For the most part, the 
assets and liabilities discussed below are considered to be Level 3.

2022 2021

At 31 December (CHF in thousands)
Carrying  

amount net
Estimated  
fair value

Carrying  
amount net

Estimated  
fair value

Assets

Loans 3,700,834 3,772,825 3,578,038 3,656,409

Liabilities

Deposits – 3,513,116 – 3,505,529 – 3,199,397 – 3,228,807

Borrowings – 2,613,029 – 2,263,663 – 2,492,058 – 2,259,965
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Fair values are estimated as follows: 

Loans
Fair value calculation is based on a discounted future cash flows methodology, using current market interest rate data 
adjusted for inherent credit risk or quoted market prices and recent transactions, if available.

Deposits and borrowings
If no market quotes are available, the fair value calculation is based on a discounted future cash flows methodology, 
using current effective interest rate data or current market interest rate data that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments.

Asset and liabilities that are reflected in the accompanying financial statements at a carrying value deemed to repre-
sent fair value are not included in the above disclosures; such items include cash and cash equivalents, investment se- 
curities, other assets, accrued expense and other liabilities.

Pension fund
Refer to note 12. Pension plans for further details on pension funds.

20.  Variable interest entities

The Group primarily uses variable interest entities to securitise auto lease financing receivables. The financing receiv-
ables are originated by the Bank in the ordinary course of business and transferred to the VIEs. The financing receiva-
bles in the VIEs have similar risks and characteristics to the Bank’s other lease financing receivables and were under-
written to the same standard. Accordingly, the performance of these assets has been similar to the Bank’s other lease 
financing receivables.

The Group completed six securitisations, all through consolidated VIEs, to obtain funding backed by its auto lease 
receivables. Four transactions of TCHF 200,000 each, issued between March 2012 and June 2016 were all fully repaid 
at their optional redemption dates. In March 2019, the Group launched its fifth securitisation transaction (Swiss Auto 
Lease 2019-1 GmbH) and issued fixed-rate senior notes of TCHF 250,000 with a coupon of 0.15% per annum and an 
optional redemption date of three  years from the date of issuance. In March 2022 the fifth securitisation transaction 
was fully repaid at its optional redemption date. In March 2020, the Group launched its sixth securitisation transaction 
(Swiss Auto Lease 2020-1 GmbH) and issued fixed-rate senior notes of TCHF 250,000 with a coupon of 0.00% per annum 
and an optional redemption date of four years from the date of issuance. 

Third-party holders of the debt issued by the VIEs only have recourse to the financing receivables owned by the VIEs 
and not to the Bank’s general credit. Contractually, the cash flows from these financing receivables must first be used 
to pay third-party debt holders and other expenses of the VIEs. Excess cash flows are available to the Bank.

The Bank is the servicer of the VIEs and holds the subordinated interests issued by the VIEs. The Bank is considered 
primary beneficiary of the VIEs as it has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIEs’ 
economic performance and an obligation to absorb losses, or a right to receive benefits from the VIEs. Hence the VIEs 
are being consolidated.

On 21 July 2017, the Group signed an agreement to refinance a CHF 42 million personal loan portfolio from eny Finance AG, 
a Swiss online personal loan provider. The deal was structured through a VIE that is fully owned, controlled and consol-
idated by the Group. The Bank is the co-servicer of the VIE and holds the subordinated interests issued by the VIE that 
were used to refinance the loan portfolio from eny Finance AG. The Bank is considered the primary beneficiary of the 
VIE as it has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and 
an obligation to absorb losses, or a right to receive benefits from the VIE.
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The table below summarises the assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs described above:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Assets    

Financing receivables, net  285,019  572,473 

Financing leases  270,411  542,504 

Loans  14,608  29,969 

Other assets  17,797  36,476 

Total assets  302,816  608,949 

Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other payables  1,558  3,878 

Non-recourse borrowings  249,664  499,303 

Total liabilities  251,223  503,181 

Revenues from the consolidated VIEs amounted to TCHF 15,546 and TCHF 30,638 for the years ended 31 December 2022 
and 2021, respectively. Related expenses consisted primarily of provisions for losses of TCHF 552 and TCHF 1,942 , gen-
eral and administrative expenses releated to porftolio service costs of TCHF 1,253 and TCHF 1,714 and interest expense 
of TCHF 272 and TCHF 1,099 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. These amounts did not include 
intercompany revenues and costs, principally fees and interest between the Bank and the VIEs, which are eliminated 
for consolidation purposes.

21.  Related-party transactions

The Group had no related-party transactions in 2022 and 2021 outside the normal course of business. 

22.  Interest income

The details of interest income are shown below: 

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Personal loans 163,079 169,359

Auto leases and loans 133,086 130,106

Credit cards 89,050 84,484

Other 346 – 1,249

Total 385,562 382,701
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23.  Interest expense

The details of interest expense are shown below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Interest expense on ABS 613 1,328

Interest expense on deposits 13,718 12,736

Interest expense on debt 15,059 11,968

Total 29,390 26,032

24.  Commission and fee income

The details of commission and fee income are shown below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Insurance 23,448 22,971

Credit cards 94,765 80,429

Loans and leases 14,975 14,603

BNPL and other 1 19,500 12,347

Total 152,688 130,350

1	� Primarily includes BNPL fee income related to Swissbilling SA and Byjuno AG with sister company Byjuno Finance AG (starting 1 November 2022)

25.  General and administrative expenses

The details of general and administrative expenses are shown below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Professional services 21,960 17,763

Marketing 1 15,725 8,134

Collection fees 10,748 10,517

Postage and stationery 15,035 10,826

Rental expense under operating leases 6,687 6,787

Information technology 43,936 41,449

Depreciation and amortisation 25,956 25,045

Other – 18,078 – 6,472

Total 121,969 114,048

1	� Marketing includes advertising costs, which are expensed as incurred
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26.  Share-based compensation

The Group had two share-based compensation plans in 2022.

The one-time Long-Term Incentive Plan was set up for employees below the Management Board. Under the one-time 
long-term incentive plan, employees invited to participate received a fixed number of RSUs free of charge. The RSUs 
were granted on 29 April 2022 and shall vest on 30 April 2025 (the vesting date) provided that neither termination of 
employment nor any forfeiture events have occurred in relation to the participant on or before the vesting date. On 
the vesting date, vested RSUs shall automatically convert into company shares that shall be assigned to the participant 
with all right attached to them as per the vesting date.

The total number of Restricted Share Units (RSUs) granted under this plan was 18,743 based on a share price of CHF 69.65 
at the grant date. The fair value used was calculated as the closing price before the grant date. RSUs issued under this 
plan will be settled out of shares acquired by the Group for such purpose.

The following table summarises RSUs outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively:

2022 2021

Number of RSUs

Weighted average 
grant date  

fair value (CHF) Number of RSUs

Weighted average 
grant date  

fair value (CHF)

RSUs outstanding at 1 January – –  3,038  248,121 

Granted 1  20,196  1,411,126 – –

Vested – –  – 3,038  – 248,121 

Forfeited  – 1,364  – 95,412 – –

RSUs outstanding at 31 December  18,832  1,315,714 – –

RSUs expected to vest  18,832  1,315,714 – –

1	� In 2022, the Group granted 1,453 RSUs as replacement award at the grant date 1 September 2022 with a share price of CHF 68.86 (for further details on the replace-

ment award, please refer to the Compensation Report on page 99)

The total recognised compensation cost was TCHF 285 and TCHF 48 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. The remaining unrecognised cost of TCHF 1,048 as of 31 December 2022 is expected to be recognised over 
a weighted-average period of 28 months.

The Executive Variable Compensation Plan (EVCP) was set up for the senior management team in 2013. In 2016, the EVCP 
plan was adapted, and since the performance year 2016 the senior management team receives under the long-term 
incentive programme (LTI), which is one part of the EVCP, a part of their variable compensation in performance share 
units (PSUs).

The PSUs vest after a three-year period depending on the achievement of performance conditions which include rela-
tive total shareholder return (TSR) and cumulative fully diluted earnings per share (EPS). The actual LTI bonus of each 
participant is determined in the first quarter after each performance year in a range of 75% to 125% of the target LTI 
bonus based on a look-back assessment in a guided discretion by the Board of Directors. The actual LTI bonus is granted 
in PSUs. The first grant took place in March 2017. For details regarding the plan, please refer to the Compensation Report 
on page 99 of the Annual Report 2022. 
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2022 2021

Number of PSUs

Weighted average 
grant date  

fair value (CHF) Number of PSUs

Weighted average 
grant date  

fair value (CHF)

PSUs outstanding at 1 January  7,005  701,452  15,545  1,472,385 

Granted  5,620  356,027  3,738  392,681 

Vested  – 1,728  – 138,758  – 11,215  – 1,049,146 

Forfeited  – 2,512  – 260,326  – 1,063  – 114,468 

PSUs outstanding at 31 December  8,385  658,394  7,005  701,452 

PSUs expected to vest  9,517  625,771  870  84,169 

The fair value of a PSU was calculated as the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted average price (VWAP) of 
a Bank’s share during the 60 trading days ending on the last trading day (inclusive) before the grant date, risk-adjusted 
for the performance condition. A PSU was calculated at CHF 63.35 and CHF 105.05 at the grant date of 1 February 2022 
and 2021, respectively, and one PSU was equal to one ordinary share of the Bank.

At 31 December 2022, the weighted-average conversion ratio of one PSU was 114% based on performance conditions. 
The total recognised compensation cost was TCHF 185 and TCHF 46 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. The remaining unrecognised cost of TCHF 403 as of 31 December 2022 is expected to be recognised over a 
weighted-average period of 25 months.

27.  Supplemental cash flow information

Certain supplemental information related to cash flows is shown below:

For the years ended 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Increase in loans to customers – 2,054,565 – 1,804,323

Principal collections from customers – loans 1,922,801 1,923,025

Investment in equipment for financing leases – 1,531,582 – 1,334,049

Principal collections from customers – financing leases 1,386,009 1,326,196

Net change in credit card and BNPL receivables – 29,083 – 73,771

Net change in financing receivables – 306,419 37,077

28.  Off-balance sheet arrangements

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group was party to the following off-balance sheet financial instruments. The balances 
represent the Group’s maximum contractual exposure to credit risk resulting from off-balance sheet arrangements:

At 31 December (CHF in thousands) 2022 2021

Ordinary course of business lending commitments 208,616 183,552

Unused revolving loan facilities 59,019 66,031

Unused credit card facilities 3,716,958 3,748,298
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Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of conditions 
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses. Loan 
commitments are most often uncollateralised and may be drawn up to the total amounts to which the Group is com-
mitted. Total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements as the lines of credit may 
expire or be terminated without being fully drawn upon. No additional allowance for losses was deemed necessary for 
these unused commitments since the Group can terminate the lines of credit at any time unilaterally. The increase in 
lending commitments from the ordinary course of business, in current year,  is related to a methodology change in how 
we estimate the undrawn part of approved commitments.

29.  Subsequent events

The Group has evaluated subsequent events from the financial statements date through 22 February 2023, the date at 
which the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no subsequent events at that date.

30.  Significant differences between US GAAP and statutory accounting rules for banks  

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP. 

FINMA requires Swiss-domiciled banks which present their financial statements under either US GAAP or International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to provide a narrative explanation of the material differences between account-
ing rules for banks and its primary accounting standard. The principal provisions of the Swiss Act on Banks and Sav-
ings Banks (Banking Act), Swiss Ordinance on Banks and Savings Banks (Banking Ordinance), the Swiss Financial Market 
Supervisory Authority’s Accounting Ordinance (FINMA Accounting Ordinance) and the FINMA circular 2020/1, “Account-
ing – Banks”, governing the accounting rules for banks (“Swiss GAAP”) differ in certain aspects from US GAAP. For details 
on the Group’s accounting policies please refer to “Note 1. Basis of presentation and summary of significant accounting 
policies”. The following are the material differences:

Allowances and provisions for credit losses 
Starting 1 January 2023, under US GAAP, allowances and provisions for credit losses on financial instruments will be esti-
mated based on the CECL methodology. The credit loss requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised 
cost as well as off-balance sheet credit exposures, such as irrevocable loan commitments, credit guarantees and similar 
instruments. The credit loss requirements are based on a forward-looking, lifetime CECL model by incorporating histor-
ical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions available 
as of the reporting date. Under Swiss GAAP, the same impairment model and methodology will be applied as under US 
GAAP. The Bank, under Swiss GAAP, has adopted the CECL methodology as of 1 January 2022. Please refer to “Note 2. 
Accounting and valuation principles”, “Note 4. Methods used for identifying default risks and determining the need for 
value adjustments” and “Note 7.7 Value adjustments and provisions” for additional information and the impact of CECL 
adoption on our individual financial statements.

Goodwill amortisation 
Under US GAAP, goodwill is not amortised but must be tested for impairment annually or more frequently if an event or 
change in circumstances indicates that the goodwill may be impaired. Under Swiss GAAP, goodwill is amortised over its 
useful life, generally not exceeding five years, except for justified cases where a maximum useful life of up to ten years 
is acceptable. In addition, goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment.

Share based payments
The Swiss accounting rules for banks allow the same accounting treatment for share-based payments as US GAAP with 
the following exceptions: The expenses for share-based payments are recognised in the income statement with a corre-
sponding entry in accrued expenses and deferred income, instead of additional paid in capital in equity.
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Operating leases for lessee 
Under US GAAP, at commencement of an operating lease, the lessee recognises a lease liability for future lease payments 
and a right-of-use asset which reflects the future benefits from the lease contract. The initial lease liability equals the 
present value of the future lease payments; amounts paid upfront are not included. The right-of-use asset equals the 
sum of the initial lease liability, initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments, with lease incentives received deducted. 
Operating lease costs, which include amortisation and an interest component, are recognised over the remaining lease 
term on a straight-line basis. If the reporting entity permanently vacates premises and sub-leases a leased asset to 
another party at a loss, an impairment is recognised on the right-of-use asset. The impairment is determined as the 
difference between the carrying value of the right-of-use asset and the present value of the expected sub-lease income 
over the sub-lease term. Under Swiss GAAP, at commencement of an operating lease, no right-of-use assets and lease lia-
bilities are recognised on the balance sheet of the lessee. For the calculation of the periodic lease expenses, initial direct 
costs, lease incentives and prepaid lease payments are considered, and the total cost of a lease contract is expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Available-for-sale debt securities
Under US GAAP, available-for-sale debt securities are valued at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses due to fluctuations 
in fair value (including foreign exchange) are not recorded in the consolidated statements of operations but included 
net of tax in AOCI, which is part of total shareholders’ equity. Credit-related impairments may have to be recognised in 
the consolidated statements of operations if the fair value of an individual debt security decreases below its amortised 
cost basis due to credit-related factors. Under Swiss GAAP, available-for-sale securities are accounted for at the lower 
of amortised cost or market with valuation reductions and recoveries due to market fluctuations recorded in other 
ordinary expenses and income, respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in net income/(loss) from 
trading activities and fair value option.

Deferred taxes
The Swiss accounting rules for banks generally do not recognize deferred tax in reliable assessment statutory financial 
statements. The Bank does not recognize any deferred taxes for its individual financial statement in accordance with 
the Swiss accounting rules for banks.

Debt issuance costs
Under US GAAP, debt issuance costs are presented as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt. 
Under Swiss GAAP, debt issuance costs are reported as a balance sheet asset in accrued income and prepaid expenses.

Loan origination fees and costs
US GAAP requires the deferral of fees received upfront and direct costs incurred in connection with the origination of 
loans not held under the fair value option. Under Swiss GAAP, only upfront payments or fees that are considered inter-
est-related components are deferred (e.g., premiums and discounts). Loan origination costs are deferred and reported 
under accrued income and prepaid expenses.  Fees received from the borrower are deferred and reported under accrued 
expenses and deferred income. 

Extraordinary income and expenses
Unlike US GAAP, Swiss GAAP does report certain expenses or revenues as extraordinary if the recorded income or 
expense is non-operating and non-recurring.
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Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of Cembra Money Bank AG, Zurich 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cembra Money Bank AG (and its subsidiaries) (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 127 to 172) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and comply with 
Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group, and have fulfilled our other ethi-
cal responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit, which include relevant 
ethical requirements in the United States of America, with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the 
Swiss audit profession. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

  

 Key Audit Matters 

 
Valuation of allowance for losses on financing receivables 

  
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not pro-
vide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Valuation of allowance for losses on financing receivables 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 As per December 31, 2022 gross financing receivables 
(smaller-balance, homogenous loans, including primarily 
credit card receivables, personal loans as well as auto 
leases and loans) amount to CHF 6,612.5 million (repre-
senting 86.4% of total assets). At the same time, the 
Group has recorded an allowance for losses on financing 
receivables of CHF 92.4 million. 

The valuation of collective allowance for losses on financ-
ing receivables relies on the application of significant 
management judgment in determining the methodology 
and parameters in calculating the allowance. The Group 
uses various modelling techniques and assumptions, 
which are based on credit loss experience and historical 
delinquency data as well as current trends, conditions 
and macroeconomic factors. 

In particular, the valuation of the collective allowance for 
losses on financing receivables is based on significant es-
timates, such as future client payment behavior, which is 
subject to management judgment.  

These judgments require specific knowledge of develop-
ments in the Group’s financing receivables portfolio as 
well as relevant competencies in determining allowances. 

We assessed and tested the design and operating ef-
fectiveness of the key controls with respect to the valua-
tion of the allowance for losses on financing receiva-
bles. This included controls over the calculation, ap-
proval, recording and monitoring of allowances. Our 
testing also comprised controls over reserving model 
approval, validation and approval of key data inputs as 
well as qualitative considerations for potential impair-
ment that were not captured by management’s models. 

For a selected sample of allowances for losses on fi-
nancing receivables calculated on a collective basis, we 
developed our independent expectation, by calculating 
the respective coverage rates and allowance for losses 
balance. Furthermore, we evaluated the reasonable-
ness of the inputs to those models, such as delinquency 
and payment behavior, by comparing data and assump-
tions made to historical accuracy of estimates. 

With the involvement of our Financial Risk Management 
specialists, we examined the methodology of the se-
lected reserving models and challenged the underlying 
assumptions used.  

 For further information on Valuation of allowance for losses on financing receivables refer to the following: 

 Note 1 (Basis of presentation and summary of significant accounting policies, Allowance for losses) 

 Note 4 (Financing receivables and allowance for losses) 
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To the General Meeting of Cembra Money Bank AG, Zurich 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cembra Money Bank AG (and its subsidiaries) (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 127 to 172) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and comply with 
Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group, and have fulfilled our other ethi-
cal responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit, which include relevant 
ethical requirements in the United States of America, with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the 
Swiss audit profession. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

  

 Key Audit Matters 

 
Valuation of allowance for losses on financing receivables 

  
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not pro-
vide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and the provisions of Swiss law, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to en-
able the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued; to 
disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and to use the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material mis-
statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and the risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, in-
tentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment or economic 
decisions made by a reasonable user based on these consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Swiss law, and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are ap-
propriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise sub-
stantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.   
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direc-
tion, supervision, and performance of the group audit of the Group. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We are required to communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters, including any significant defi-
ciencies, that we identified during the audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with rele-
vant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are there-
fore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes pub-
lic disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to out-
weigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other Information in the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements, 
the stand-alone financial statements of the company, the compensation report, the sustainability report, and our audi-
tor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an 
opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, or 
the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that 
an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of Cembra Money Bank AG, Zurich 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cembra Money Bank AG (and its subsidiaries) (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 127 to 172) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and comply with 
Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group, and have fulfilled our other ethi-
cal responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit, which include relevant 
ethical requirements in the United States of America, with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the 
Swiss audit profession. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

  

 Key Audit Matters 

 
Valuation of allowance for losses on financing receivables 

  
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not pro-
vide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists, 
which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
 
 
 
 
Ertugrul Tüfekçi Malea Bourquin 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert 

 

Zurich, February 22, 2023 
 


	Overset on Page: 148



